

L'Institut Agro Rennes-Angers

 \Box Site d'Angers $\ \boxtimes$ Site de Rennes

Année universitaire : 2022 - 2023	Mémoire de fin d'études				
Spécialité :	d'ingénieur de l'Institut Agro Rennes-Angers (Institut national d'enseignement supérieur pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement)				
Ingénieur Agronome	de master de l'Institut Agro Rennes-Angers (Institut national d'enseignement				
Spécialisation (et option éventuelle) :	supérieur pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement)				
Sciences halieutiques et aquacoles, préparé	□ de l'Institut Agro Montpellier (étudiant arrivé en M2)				
à l'Institut Agro Rennes-Angers (AQUA)	⊠ d'un autre établissement (étudiant arrivé en M2)				

Analyse des rôles de différents domaines de la protéine Auts2a dans le contrôle maternel du comportement et caractérisation de l'impact d'un stress thermique sur la régulation de gènes de neurodéveloppement chez le medaka (Oryzias latipes)

Par : Jules TRILLAUD

Soutenu à Rennes le 13/09/23

Devant le jury composé de : Président : Bastien SADOUL Maître de stage : Julien BOBE Enseignant référent : Bastien SADOUL Autres membres du jury

Pierre-Guy MARNET (Enseignant-chercheur Institut Agro Rennes-Angers)

Elisabeth PELLEGRINI (Jury extérieur)

Les analyses et les conclusions de ce travail d'étudiant n'engagent que la responsabilité de son auteur et non celle de l'Institut Agro Rennes-Angers

Ce document est soumis aux conditions d'utilisation «Paternité-Pas d'Utilisation Commerciale-Pas de Modification 4.0 France» disponible en ligne <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.fr</u>



Fiche de confidentialité et de diffusion du mémoire

÷., .

Non 🗆 Oui	si oui : 🗖 1 an 🗖 5 ans 🗖 10 ans
Pendant toute la duré	e de confidentialité, aucune diffusion du mémoire n'est possible ⁽¹⁾ .
Date et signature du <u>r</u> (ou de l'étudiant-entrep <u>A la fin de la période c</u> d'auteur et autorisation	naître de stage ⁽²⁾ : preneur) <u>de confidentialité,</u> sa diffusion est soumise aux règles ci-dessous (droits on de diffusion par l'enseignant à renseigner).
roits d'auteur	
L'auteur ⁽³⁾ Nom Prénor	Tulloud Jula
autorise la diffusion d	le son travail (immédiatement ou à la fin de la période de confidentialité)
🖪 Oui 🗖 🗈	Non
<u>Si oui</u> , il autorise	
🗖 la diffusio	n papier du mémoire uniquement(4)
🗖 la diffusio	n papier du mémoire et la diffusion électronique du résumé
R la diffusio de conforr	n papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion)
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (on papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6)
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l	on papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/03
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant	In papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) Yauteur : 13/03
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con	n papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/09 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité)
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con	n papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/09 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité) Non
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con ROui □ I Si non, seul le titre du	on papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/09 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité) Non a mémoire apparaîtra dans les bases de données.
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con ROui □ I Si non, seul le titre du Si non, seul le titre du Si oui, il autorise	In papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) l'auteur : 13/03 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité) Non I mémoire apparaîtra dans les bases de données.
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con ROui □ I Si non, seul le titre du Si non, seul le titre du Si oui, il autorise □ la diffusio	en papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/09 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité) Non u mémoire apparaîtra dans les bases de données. en papier du mémoire uniquement(4) en papier du mémoire et la diffusion électronique du résumé
R la diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con ROui □ 1 Si non, seul le titre du Si oui, il autorise □ la diffusio R la diffusio	In papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/0 9 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité) Non u mémoire apparaîtra dans les bases de données. In papier du mémoire uniquement(4) in papier du mémoire et la diffusion électronique du résumé in papier et électronique du mémoire
Ia diffusio de conforr (Facultatif) □ acce Nd (Date et signature de l utorisation de di présentant L'enseignant juge le r fin de la période de con I Oui □ Si non, seul le titre du Si oui, il autorise □ la diffusio I a diffusio I a diffusio I a diffusio	In papier et électronique du mémoire (joindre dans ce cas la fiche mité du mémoire numérique et le contrat de diffusion) epte de placer son mémoire sous licence Creative commons CC-By-Nc- voir Guide du mémoire Chap 1.4 page 6) 'auteur : 13/0 9 ffusion par le responsable de spécialisation ou son mémoire de qualité suffisante pour être diffusé (immédiatement ou à la ifidentialité) Non u mémoire apparaîtra dans les bases de données. In papier du mémoire uniquement(4) in papier du mémoire et la diffusion électronique du résumé in papier et électronique du mémoire

(3) Auteur = étudiant qui réalise son mémoire de fin d'études
 (4) La référence bibliographique (= Nom de l'auteur, titre du mémoire, année de soutenance, diplôme, spécialité et spécialisation/Option)) sera signalée dans les bases de données documentaires sans le résumé

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank everyone who took part in this project and who supported me and guided me throughout the course of this rewarding internship.

First, I would like to thank Julien Bobe for his guidance during the entirety of the project, for all his feedback and especially for his willingness to share his knowledge which helped me to enhance the quality of my work and to develop my professional project.

I also would like to thank Constance Medrignac for her huge contribution to this project and to the enjoyable and positive work atmosphere. I am grateful for the time you spent to support me all along this internship making every situation more manageable.

More than for her professional contribution, I would also like to acknowledge Sarah Janati Idrissi for creating a pleasant work atmosphere and a dynamic team spirit within the lab.

Finally, my thanks go to all the staff, researchers and students who take part in this project, who welcomed me in the lab and the ones with whom I shared good time out of the lab.

Table of contents

1. Context	1
1.1 AUTS2: the autism susceptibility candidate 2 gene	1
1.2 A large gene with multiple functions	2
1.3 Medaka development, from egg to larvae	4
1.4 Zebrafish and medaka behavior in cognitive analysis	5
1.5 AUTS2 project in the Fish Physiology and Genomics Laboratory (FPGL)	6
1.6 Aims of the internship	8
2. Materials and methods	8
2.1 Medaka and development conditions	8
2.2 Thermal stress experiment	10
2.3 Post larval phenotyping	12
2.4 Social behavior experiment	13
2.5 Statistical analysis	16
3. Results	17
3.1 Thermal stress experiment results	17
3.2 Post-larval phenotyping results	18
3.3 Social behavior experiment results	20
4. Discussion	21

Bibliography	
Conclusion	
Conclusion	20
4.3 Social behavior experiment	
4.2 Post larval phenotyping	
4.1 Thermal stress experiment	

Glossary

aa: amino acids	CT: cycle threshold			
ARV1: Fatty acid homeostasis modulator	C-terminus: carboxyl-terminus			
ASD: autism spectrum disorder	DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid			
AUTS2: activator of transcription and development	dpf: day post fertilization dph:			
regulator bp: base pairs	day post hatching			
CM+: heterozygous mutant with maternal contribution of the <i>auts2</i> gene	DPYSL5: Dihydropyrimidinase like 5			
CM-: heterozygous mutant without the maternal	ELZ: extreme left zone			
contribution of the <i>auts2</i> gene	ERZ: extreme right zone			
CNS: central nervous system	FL-AUTS2: full-length AUTS2 protein			

CRMP: collapsing response mediator protein

FPGL: fish physiology and genomic laboratory **HGNC:** HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee

hpf: hour post fertilization

kb: kilo base kbp: kilo

base pair KO: knockout

mRNA: messenger RNA

NLS: nuclear localization signal

N-terminus: amino-terminus

OFT: open field test

PCR: polymerase chain replication

PLP2: proteolipid protein 2

PRR: proline rich region

RNA: ribonucleic acid

Rpm: round per minute

RT: room temperature

RT-qPCR: real-time quantitative polymerase chain replication

SD: standard deviation

SRR: serine rich region

WT: wild-type

Figures list

Figure 1: Examples of <i>AUTS2</i> syndrome's features in research animal models1
Figure 2: Schematic representation of the AUTS2 mRNA and its main described isoform2
Figure 3: Graphic representation of the early development stage of the medaka's egg4
Figure 4: Created lines for the <i>auts2</i> project at INRAE, FPGL6
Figure 5: Graphic representation of a male medaka8
Figure 6: Schematic representation of the thermal stress experiment
medaka
Figure 7: Schematic representation of the post-larval phenotyping method11
Figure 8: Social behavior setup for medaka13
Figure 9: Representation of the tracking area created with the EthoVision XT software in the middle aquarium of the experimentation device
Figure 10: Comparative expressions of <i>auts2a, arv1, dpysl5</i> and <i>plp2</i> in ovary and egg from thermal stressed medakas
Figure 11: Response of <i>auts2a</i> KO medaka's offspring post-larvae to light stimuli17
Figure 12: Response of <i>auts2a</i> KO medaka's offspring to social stimuli

Table list

 Table 1: Example of experimentation plan for social behavior experimentation......14

1. Context

1.1 AUTS2: the autism susceptibility candidate 2 gene

AUTS2 features

The *AUTS2*¹ gene is known as a regulator of neuronal development and involved in a wide range of psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia, epilepsy, and autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (Hori & Hoshino, 2017). It has been identified in 2002, in a monozygotic pair of autistic twins with the similar t(7;20) (q11.2 ;p11.2) translocation and then firstly named as "autism susceptibility candidate 2" to recently become "activator of transcription and developmental regulator" according to the HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee (HGNC) (Sultana et al., 2002). Patients carrying heterozygous *AUTS2* mutations display a variable phenotype known as the "*AUTS2* syndrome", which can be characterized by a severity score created in 2013 and based on 32 clinical features. The most frequently observed features in this score are feeding difficulties, intellectual disability, development delay, generalized hypotonia, strabismus, short and/or upturned philtrum, narrow mouth, scoliosis and tight heel cords (Beunders et al. 2013).

Auts2 in animal research models



Figure 1: Examples of AUTS2 syndrome's features in research animal models.

¹ "AUTS2" gene symbol will be used for humans, "Auts2" for other mammals and "auts2" for fish.

A. Body size comparison between wild type (WT), heterozygous mutant (Het) and knockout (KO) mice for auts2 (Gao et al, 2014). **B.C** Body and head size comparison between a zebrafish wild-type (WT) and a zebrafish injected with auts2 morpholinos (auts2 MO), (ch: ceratohyal, Mk: Meckel's cartilages) (Beunders et al, 2013).

The link between *Auts2* mutation and neurodevelopmental disorders associated with specific features has also been shown in different animal research models. Heterozygous *Auts2* knockout (KO) mice display a body weight development delay (A, Figure 1) associated with righting reflex troubles and significantly less ultrasonic vocalization than wild types (WT) (Homozygous *Auts2* KO mice show the same phenotype in a stiffer form) (Gao et al., 2014). Depending on the mutation of the *Auts2* locus, heterozygous KO mice can also exhibit social deficit, altered anxiety and higher sensibility to auditory stimuli (Hori et al.,2020). A part of the AUTS2 syndrome features have also been described in zebrafish with *auts2* disruptions, such as smaller heads, eyes, bodies, pectoral fins than WT and craniofacial defects (B.C, Figure 1) (Nir Oksenberg et al., 2013. Beunders et al., 2013). However, despite the common use of teleost fish for biomedical analysis, there is a lack of *auts2* data in fish models.

1.2 A large gene with multiple functions

AUTS2 structure

The human *AUTS2* gene is composed of 1,195,032 base pairs (bp) made up of 19 exons. The first seven exons are separated by large introns (16 to 301 kilo base (kb)) while exons 7 to 19 are more compact (introns of 1 to 3 kb). The *AUTS2* gene encodes for a 1259 amino acids (aa) protein (FL-AUTS2, Figure 2) but many AUTS2² isoforms have been identified and especially a 711 aa protein (var1-AUTS2, Figure 2) and a 786 aa protein (var2-AUTS2, Figure 2) generated from alternative transcription sites and corresponding to the carboxyl-terminus part of the gene (C-terminus) (Beunders et al., 2013. Biel et al., 2022). We find a similar exon structure of the AUTS2 gene within the vertebrates with different beginnings for the coding sequence, like in medaka and zebrafish where *auts2* starts after the exon 1 of the human *AUTS2* (Kondrychyn et al, 2017).

² "AUTS2" protein symbol will be used for humans and for every mammals and "Auts2" for fish.



Figure 2: Schematic representation of the AUTS2 mRNA and its main described isoform, (Clément, 2023). *NLS: nuclear localization signal, PRR: proline rich region, PPPY: PY motif, HRR: histidine rich region, SRR: Serine rich region, FL-AUTS2: full length protein, var1-AUTS2 and var2-AUTS2: short isoforms of the AUTS2 protein.*

The AUTS2 structure is composed of several different motifs associated with identified functions. The amino-terminus (N-terminus) part of the protein includes three nuclear localization signals (NLS), a proline rich region (PRR) and a serine rich region (SRR) (Figure 2). In the other part of the protein we also find a PRR coupled with two histidine motifs and an "auts2 domain" which is characteristic of the Auts2 family (Beunders et al., 2013. Sultana et al., 2002). The AUTS2 protein displays features of a messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA)-binding protein with stretch of repetitive aa motif and also highlighted in several studies where AUTS2 had been found binding protein complex (Hentze et al., 2018. Castanza et al., 2021). Several analyses have predicted that the AUTS2 proteins are likely to be localized in cell nuclei and especially for the full-length AUTS2 protein (FL-AUTS2) that displays NLS domains (Biel et al, 2022). In the nuclei AUTS2 acts as a transcription factor through the PRC1 complex that maintains the transcriptional repression of genes of the central nervous system (CNS) (Gao et al., 2012). Moreover, in the cytoplasm, it has been shown that the FL-AUTS2 is involved in the setting up of the cytoskeleton and especially in the axons' elongation (Hori et al., 2014).

Auts2 identified functions in mammals and fish

All the features previously described on the *AUTS2* gene are also displayed by mice, zebrafish and medaka *Auts2* which correspond to a highly conserved structure within the vertebrates and witness of the main role of the gene in neurodevelopment. However, in teleost fish, we find two genes, *auts2a* and *auts2b*, resulting from the teleost specific whole genome duplication. It is known that *auts2a* is the most frequently retained gene and some species such as medaka display only the auts2a gene contrary to other species like zebrafish displaying both (Merdrignac et al, 2022).

AUTS2 expression

In humans, *AUTS2* is highly expressed in the fetal brain and also identified in skeletal muscle, kidney and in other organs with, however, a lower expression level (Oksenberg et al, 2013).

In medaka, *auts2a* expression has been highlighted in the developing brain and especially in the forebrain, midbrain, hindbrain and eyes. Moreover, maternally inherited *auts2a* had been detected in medaka's fertilized eggs before the beginning of the zygotic genome expression and before a radical increase of *auts2a* expression in the late embryonic brain formation (Merdrignac et al, 2022).

1.3 Medaka development, from egg to larvae

Reproductive biology of medaka

After an approximate growth period of nearly 4 months, medaka fish reach the adult stage marked by sexual maturation. Among female medaka, a daily production of eggs starts when they are kept under a reproductive photoperiod consisting of 16 hours of light followed by 8 hours in darkness. In fully mature medaka, oocyte maturation occurs every night and the ovulation appears just an hour before the onset of the light period. The female medaka holds oocytes in oviposition for a variable duration during which the male medaka fertilizes the egg. In their natural habitat, the eggs naturally detach from the female to undergo embryonic development. However, when medaka fish are maintained in aquariums, the fertilized eggs can be collected from the female and placed in petri dishes containing a specific medium. This method allows close monitoring of embryonic development. Moreover, the transparency of the eggs enables a detailed description of the embryonic development of medaka with its various development stages (Iwamatsu, 2004).

Early development stage of medaka



Figure 3: Graphic representation of the early development stage of the medaka's egg. (*Iwamatsu, 2004*). Stage 0: unfertilized eggs. Stage 1: activated egg stage. Stage 2: blastodisc stage. Stage 3: 2 cell stage. Stage 4: 4 cell stage. Stage 5: 8 cell stage.

Following the formation of the perivitelline space, which is initiated by the activation of the egg through the spermatozoon, pronuclei from the male and the female gather to form a zygote. Approximately 1 hour after fertilization at 26°C, the initial phase of the development starts with the onset of the first cell division (Figure 3).

As the early developmental processes unfold, organs are progressively formed to reach the hatching stage around ten days later, all under a consistent temperature of 26°C and in an adequate medium. The beginning of feeding behavior in medaka is not well-documented but it is established that the opening of the oral cavity to the mouth appears before the hatchin stage, approximately 6 days after fertilization (Iwamatsu, 2004).

Maternal factors in eggs

The early fish model development, as every animal development, is supported by proteins and maternal ribonucleic acids (RNAs) loaded into the oocyte during oogenesis. Before the zygotic genome activation, these maternal factors trigger fundamental processes within the egg which can be impaired by a variation of quality or quantity of mRNA and proteins. In recent years, there has been a growing focus on investigating the intergenerational impact of these maternal factors and especially a focus on molecular mechanisms and gene expression.

Various types of maternal factors exist, including RNA, proteins, hormones...and these represent a wide fraction of the coding part of the genome. For example, in zebrafish, maternal factors within the egg account for 75% of the entire genome (Vastenhouw et al., 2019). Moreover, in zebrafish, almost 25% of the zygotic genome is expressed during the zygotic activation genome period and these activated gene codes for transcription factors or development regulators fundamental for the maternal mRNA degradation (Aanes et al., 2011. Lee et al., 2013. Harvey et al., 2013).

The repartition of the maternal factors in the egg has also a key role in the setting up of the developing plan of the embryo through a variable cytoplasmic composition and then a precise regulation of gene expression.

1.4 Zebrafish and medaka behavior in cognitive analysis

Behavior analysis are widely used in fish models to identify phenotypes linked to the genetic approach of the model. Several standardized tests have emerged recently and are currently used to explore different aspects of fish behavior such as anxiety behavior or social behavior.

Open field test (OFT)

OFT is one of the main used behavior tests. Responses of fish behavior to a novel environment are measured through the locomotory or exploratory activity and a reduction of these responses is defined as habituation. OFTs are used to analyze cognitive responses of fish like anxiety or learning abilities through the habituation to a repeated exposure to the new environment (Matsunaga, 2010). Thigmotaxis (avoiding the center of the area) is a behavior observed during these tests to assess the anxiety-like behavior of fish. Anxious subjects will swim closer to the edges of the area than other ones. This behavior had been noticed in model fish and especially in zebrafish and medaka.

Contrary to medaka larvae, which do not show a typical thigmotactic behavior, adult medaka spend much more time swimming close to the side of a new environment than in the center. However, adult medaka behaviors are fluctuant with a short period of high exploratory behavior at the beginning of an OFT followed by a thigmotactic behavior with a spatial preference for edges (Lucon-Xiccato, 2020). Likewise, larvae and adult zebrafish are likely to avoid the center of the tank when they are exposed to a new surrounding (Schnörr et al, 2011).

Light stimuli response

Another way to analyze the cognitive responses of fish is to observe the scototaxis (dark/light preference) or responses to light stimuli. Subjects are exposed to an empty tank with a white and a black area. The main part of model fish have shown a significant preference for the dark

part of the tank and a rise of the activity in the dark part is known as a witness of an anxietylike behavior in opposition to an increase of the activity in the white part which reflects an antianxiety-like behavior (Maximinio, 2010).

Even if this scototaxis protocole had been validated to investigate the anxiety response of fish, it depends on the natural preference for the subject for black or white areas. And even if some studies have shown that zebrafish, goldfish and guppies are more likely to stay in the dark, for other species of model fish like medaka, discussions are still being held and especially because of different results at different development stages. Black areas are usually known as a safe place for fish where they can hide from potential predators, however, in opposition to adult zebrafish, the adult medaka (10-12 months) do not display an avoidance for white areas (Lucon-Xiccato, 2022).

Social behavior

Social behavior tests are also often used to characterize the cognitive response of model fish. In the most common test, subjects are tracked in an aquarium with, on one side, another aquarium with a group of conspecifics and on the other side, an empty aquarium. Sociability of the subject is assessed by measuring the time spent on the side with the social stimulus. As it has been highlighted in several studies, medaka shows an attraction to social stimuli with possible sophisticated social interactions through the recognition of group mates (Lucon-Xiccato, 2022. Wang, 2017).

These behavioral tests are widely used means to investigate behavioral phenotypes in fish models but it has been shown that the results are also extremely dependent on the experimental settings. For example, the risk-taking behavior of the mosquitofish strongly depends on the size of the arena and on the ontogenetic stage (Polverino, 2016).

1.5 AUTS2 project in the Fish Physiology and Genomics Laboratory (FPGL)

Thermal stress and cognitive responses impairment

In 2019, a research team led by Julien Bobe (INRAE, FPGL) initiated a study to investigate the intergenerational impact of maternal stress on cognitive response in the offspring. The aim was also to focus on the underlying mechanisms through investigating neurodevelopmental gene expression within eggs. They have shown that a maternal temperature exposure in rainbow trout triggers impaired emotional and cognitive responses in the offspring. Indeed, alevins from thermally stressed mothers displayed a decreased anxiety and weaker learning abilities than controls. Moreover, several neurodevelopmental genes have been highlighted as dysregulated within eggs from stressed fish. Among these dysregulated genes they found *arv1*, *plp2* or *dpysl5* and especially *auts2* (Colson et al.,2018). Even if we cannot directly associate the impairment of auts2 expression within eggs and the behavioral phenotype observed in offspring, we can remember that similar behavior disorders were displayed by other animal research models with *Aust2* mutation.

The auts2 project

This previous study emphasized the impact of maternal stress on egg quality and offspring behavior but understanding the underlying mechanisms remains limited and knowledges are

scarce. Then, following the initial study, the research team started to investigate these mechanisms focusing on auts2 and utilizing the medaka as a research model. They had created several lines of medaka with distinct mutations of *auts2* in order to characterize the impact of the maternal auts2a contribution in neurodevelopment and behavior of the offspring.



Figure 4: Created lines for the auts2 project at INRAE, FPGL, (Clément, 2023). A: auts2a deletions made to create two lines (Δ 338K and Δ 4032). B: crosses made to study the impact of maternal aust2 contribution.

Two different lines have been created using CRISPR/Cas9, characterized by two distinct mutations. The first one, named Δ 338K, corresponds to a deletion of almost 90% of the gene (338 kilo base pairs (kbp)) in the N-terminus part of the gene starting at the exon 2 to end at the exon 7. The second one, named Δ 4032, corresponds to a deletion of 4032 bp in the C-terminus part of the gene, starting at the exon 14 to end at the exon 18 (A, Figure 4). For each line, homozygous and heterozygous medakas have been crossed to obtained in one hand, wild-type (+/+) and heterozygous (+/-) with maternal contribution of the gene (named "CM+") and on the other hand, homozygous (-/-) and heterozygous (-/+) without maternal contribution of *auts2a* (named "CM-") for both of the gene mutation (B, Figure 4).

Previous outcomes

In fish from the Δ 338K line, it has been shown that the lack of maternal contribution of auts2a is responsible for a lower hatching rate, smaller heads and smaller bodies. Moreover, in the same line, adult fish without maternal contribution displayed a reduced anxiety-like behavior and a worst recognition of the environment, in comparison to fish with maternal *auts2a* contribution. Smaller heads and smaller bodies have also been highlighted in fish without the maternal contribution from the Δ 4032 line, however, no behavioral phenotype was described in this line. Moreover, no behavioral test has yet been done on larvae from these lines and there is also still a lack of data on social behavior of these two lines as we know that social trouble are described in KO mice for auts2.

1.6 Aims of the internship

Within this context, the primary objective of my internship was to investigate the expression of neurodevelopmental genes in mother medaka subjected to thermal stress. The purpose was to determine whether the findings previously observed in trout hold true for medaka as well.

The second objective of this project was to characterize post-larval behavior phenotypes linked with *auts2a* mutations. The aim was, first, to conduct a comparative analysis of these phenotypes in order to determine the maternal effect of *auts2* on post-larval behavior for these two lines. Furthermore, a secondary purpose was to compare these phenotypes according to the localization of the deletion within the gene and try to clarify the functions of the distinct protein segments through existing published insights.

Finally, the last objective of this internship was to characterize the auts2a maternal contribution on social behavior in fairly mature medaka. In the same way as the previous purpose, this objective also encompassed a comparative analysis between the distinct lines to know whether the mutation's localization within the gene affects the behavior of the offspring.

To address these objectives, we conducted 3 separate experiments that we carried out all along the duration of this internship, a thermal stress experiment, a post larval-phenotyping and a social behavior experiment (in the same order as the objectives).

First of all, we will examine the materials and methods employed for each distinct experiment. Following this, we will explore the results acquired and, in another part, discuss these outcomes. Lastly, we will conclude by addressing the inquiries associated with the three primary objectives of this internship.

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Medaka and development conditions



Medaka as a fish research model

Figure 5: Graphic representation of a male medaka, (Iwamatsu, 2004). This representation corresponds to the stage 44 of the normal development table in medaka created by Iwamatsu in 2004.

Medaka is a freshwater species from Asia associated with a widespread use in fishkeeping as its body size does not reach more than 5 cm at mature age. Moreover medaka displays a wide range of features which made it a fine subject for fish experimentation and as an animal model for genetic investigations.

After almost 3 months of development, females medaka start to spawn about thirty oocytes every morning for an external fertilization by males. The large number of eggs generated provides convenience to elaborate new lines or to get new subjects for analysis.

The spawning can be initiated by regulating the light period at an optimal temperature (26°C) from a growth photoperiod (8 hours light and 16 hours dark) to a reproduction photoperiod (16 hours light and 8 hours dark) (Koger et al., 1999). These translucent eggs can be collected on the female's genital papilla and kept at 26°C to follow the embryonic development.

Moreover, that species shows a sexual dimorphism with a longer anal fin in male and even if this dimorphism is not evident at early ontogenetic stages, it is also possible to identify the sex of the subject using the sex-determining gene (Matsuda et al, 2002).

In the context of the *auts2* project, medaka had been chosen as it is an easy to breed species used in many different studies and as it displays only the *auts2a* gene contrary to zebrafish. Sequence analysis have also shown that the *auts2a* gene in medaka corresponds to the *AUTS2* gene in humans in which *AUTS2* features have the most been described. It is also a species with a fully characterized genome recently updated.

Furthermore, an increasing number of research studies are being conducted using this model fish species, focusing particularly on its behavioral reaction following exposure to chemical products. Consequently, behavior of these fish has been partially characterized and standardized tests have been developed to explore their cognitive responses.

Medaka in INRAE fish facility

In this work every fish with more than 12 days post-fertilization (dpf) was kept in aquariums with a consistent water renewal at 26°C, and fed 3 times a day. In fish facility, medakas are exposed to a light about almost 300 lux and with 2 different photoperiods, 8 am to 11.45 pm for reproductive phase and 8 am to 8 pm for growth phase. Densities in petri dishes and in aquariums are variable. Eggs densities within petri dishes were maintained at high levels to facilitate hatching induction in the medium. After hatching, densities were adjusted according to the size of developing larvae (approximately 0.5 cm for 1 day post-hatching (dph) larvae and approximately 1 cm for 21 dph post-larvae).

2.2 Thermal stress experiment



Experimental setup and sample collection



To investigate the effect of thermal stress in medaka on gene expression, 2 aquariums were set up in an isolated room with 2 different temperature conditions, one with a normal temperature, about 26°C, and another one about 32°C (which represents a temperature increase of 23%) (Figure 6, A). In each aquarium, 8 males and 12 females from the same previous development conditions were placed. As other fish in the fish facility, they were fed 3 times a day and bred with a consistent water renewal.

Sample collection

After 10 days of habituation to the new environment for each aquarium, we started to sample eggs during one month to reach an amount of 600 eggs per temperature condition (Figure 5, B). Eggs were collected on females every morning of week days and cleaned from attaching filament before being saved in cryotubes at -80°C. The aim was to collect non fertilized eggs or eggs with a maximum of 1 cell to investigate analysis on the maternal factor in the egg and to avoid zygotic gene expression (Figure 3).

After egg sampling, females were euthanized using a bath with specific concentration of tricaine methane sulfonate and bicarbonate. For each aquarium, 4 ovaries were collected and saved at -80°C in cryotubes as every sample.

RNA extraction

Eggs were pooled by 100 to get 6 replicates per temperature conditions and as ovaries, transferred still frozen into Precellys Lysing Kit - Soft Tissue Homogenizing CK14 2 mL tubes (Bertrin Technologies, France) with 1.5 mL of TRIzol (TRI Reagent, Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati). Samples were then homogenized in the Precellys homogenizer (Bertrin Technologies, France) with a 6*30 seconds at 6,800 rounds per minute (rpm) program. After 10 minutes of incubation at room temperature (RT), tubes were short spined and transferred into 2 mL RNase-free Eppendorf tubes.

After this first step, 300 μ L of chloroform were added, tubes were shaken for 15 seconds and incubated at RT for 10 minutes. After half an hour of centrifugation at 12,000 g and at 4°C the RNA phase was extracted from tubes to new 1.5 mL RNase-free Eppendorf tubes. We added 500 μ L of isopropanol for a 10 minutes incubation at RT followed by a centrifugation for 30 minutes at 12,000 g and at 4°C. Then the supernatant was removed and 1 mL of ethanol was added for a second centrifugation phase at the same previous settings (we repeated this step a second time). After that, supernatant was removed to let the cheek dry and almost 50 μ L of nuclease-free water was added in each tube (depending on the size of the cheek) to dilute the RNA's cheek. We managed to extract RNA for every ovary samples (4 per temperature conditions), and for only 4 of the 6 egg samples.

Reverse transcription

RNA concentration was analyzed for each sample using the ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, USA) to determine the volume to extract to get 1 μ g of RNA into nuclease-free water for a final volume of 10 μ L. Then, into RNase-free tubes on ice, we added 4 μ L of 5X Reaction Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), 2 μ L of Maxima Enzyme Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), 4 μ L of nuclease-free water and 10 μ L of the RNA solution of one sample. Then, these tubes were placed in the SimpliAmp Thermal Cycler (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) with the Maxima enzyme program to get a reverse transcription of our RNA samples for real-time quantitative polymerase chain replication (RT-qPCR).

In order to control the quality of our extraction we have done 2 more tubes with a sample of each temperature condition and with the exact same protocol but with nuclease-free water instead of enzyme. An amplification signal with the RT-qPCR of tubes will be indicative of a DNA contamination in our samples.

Real-time PCR

We targeted 4 genes described as dysregulated in eggs from thermal stresses rainbow trouts through RT-qPCR: *auts2a*, *dpysl5*, *arv*1, and *plp2*. To target these genes we used 20 mer primers elaborated using Primer3 (Rozen & Skaletsky, 2000).

All samples were analyzed in triplicates with, in each well of the qPCR plate, 4 μ L of a 1/20 dilution of the reverse transcription solution, 5 μ L of PowerUp SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) and 1 μ L of solution with reverse and forward primers at 5 μ M (Controls were analyzed the same way but in duplicates). To normalize the signal we used two ribosomal DNA: 5S and 18S with the same protocol but with a 1/2000 dilution of the reverse transcription solution and only with a 2 μ M primers solution. Plates were placed into the StepOnePlus RealTime PCR System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) with a set program for this mix.

2.3 Post larval phenotyping

Experimental setup



Figure 7: Schematic representation of the post-larval phenotyping method.

A: Embryo raising for each genotype and for each line. **B:** light phases in the observation chamber of the Zebrabox (ViewPoint, France). C: Schematic représentation of the Zebrabox (ViewPoint, France. D: Zoom on a well of a plate with a post-larvae (CZ: Central Zone, EZ: External Zone, TZ: Total Zone). E: Plates plan of the experimentation day.

Egg collecting and larval development

Eggs were collected from mothers kept in 5L aquariums with a ratio of 5 females for 3 males. After spawning on a friday, about 60 to 120 eggs were cleaned from attaching filament and gathered by genotype in petri dishes in an incubator at 26°C with natural photoperiod and in an embryo raising medium (water, 0.1% NaCl, 0.003% KCl, 0.004% CaCl2, 0.016% MgSO4 and few drops of methylene blue dye).

After 12 days in the incubator with a medium renewal every weekday, post-larvae were gathered in 1L aquarium per genotype with variable densities from 40 to 60 post-larvae/L in the fish facility of the lab and started to be fed (A, figure 7). Then, at 21 dpf, post-larvae were collected in petri dishes with water from the animal facilities and kept at 26°C during the whole day of behavior experimentations. The two lines investigated in this work (Δ 338K and Δ 4032) have been studied within 1 week interval but with the same protocol.

Experiment protocol

Every hour of the experimentation day, from 9 am to 5 pm, fish were picked randomly from petri dishes and loaded into 12 wells cell culture plates (Costar, USA) following a previously defined loading plan to avoid a maximum of experimentation bias (E, figure 7).

Plates were previously kept in the incubator at 26°C to cap temperature discrepancy and filled with water from fish facilities at the same temperature. Just after loading with water, plates were loaded with post-larvae and directly placed in the Zebrabox device (ViewPoint, France). Background detection was reset after the observation chamber closing at the beginning of each test and tracking threshold was kept at the same level for each post-larvae tracked.

Tracking software and Zebrabox protocol

In the tracking software, 12 wells of 2.3 cm were created according to the size of the plate used. For each plate, we designed artificial tracking zones and especially a central zone 2 times smaller than the total zone in order to get an external zone about the length of 21 dpf post-larvae (CZ, TZ and EZ on D, figure 4).

Each plate was tracked for 20 minutes preceded by an adaptation phase of 20 minutes in darkness according to results previously found in medaka (Chiffre et al., 2014). The tracking period is separated in 2 distinct phases linked to light stimuli and adapted from previous studies about locomotion and behavior essay (Chiffre et al., 2014. Le Bihanic et al., 2014). First 10 minutes were tracked in darkness and the 10 last minutes were tracked with a light exposure of about 300 lux (similar to the light power measured in the fish facility of the lab).

All plates were kept at 26°C during each test using a thermo-regulator module (ViewPoint, France) to avoid temperature effects. Moreover, the Zebrabox device was placed into an isolated room to ensure a quiet environment and to limit external bias.

Post-processing data

Multiple integration periods of 1 minute were set during the 20 minutes period of tracking. Paths of post-larvae for each minute were observed to guarantee the quality of tracking and to withdraw possible tracking interferences. We have summed the integration periods according to light phases in order to observe data usually investigated in locomotor and behavioral tests such as: total distance moved, time spent in the central zone and entries number in the central zone (Chiffre et al, 2014. Lucon-Xiccato, 2020).

2.4 Social behavior experimentation

Fish housing in the fish facility

Social behavior investigations were performed using 3-month-old medakas raised at equivalent densities and kept in 10 L aquariums in fish facilities of the lab (2 aquariums per genotype and per line with 23±1 fish). They were kept exposed to a growth photoperiod at 26°C with water renewal and fed three times a day before experimentation. In experimentation's week, fish were fed in the morning and in the evening after the last trial of the day. The 2 lines used in that work have been investigated with 1 week interval but with the same protocol and the same experimentation plan.

Experimental setup



= 1 test = 25 minutes

Figure 8: Social behavior setup for medaka.

Fish are extracted from housing aquariums to be placed in the experimental setup made of 3 distinct aquariums isolated by 2 opaque separations. The middle aquarium (MA) is the only recorded area in this experiment and is the tracked area. The shoal aquarium (SA) acts as the social stimuli for the subject.

Social behavior tests of a line were done over 2 weeks with 4 days of experimentation per week and with 6 tests per day (1 genotype per test) (Table 1). In a test, 6 fish were picked randomly from the keeping aquarium and placed in the shoal aquarium of the experimental installation for an adaptation phase of 5 minutes (Figure 8). Then, another fish was picked randomly in the aquarium to be placed in the middle aquarium (according to the sex needed to get the same number of male and female tested per genotype). After 10 minutes of adaptation, dividing plates between windows of the aquariums were removed for a 10 minutes test.

At the end of a test, water of each experimental aquarium with fish was changed and another genotype was used for another test according to the experimentation plan. Trials were run

between 2 pm to 5 pm in an isolated room at 26°C and after each experimentation, fish were euthanized for a fin clipping in order to assess sex ratio and confirm genotype.

Experimentation plan

Serie	Line	Date	Hour	Genotype	Serie	Line	Date	Hour	Genotype
1	4032	10-juil	14h - 14h25	+/+	25	4032	17-juil	14h - 14h25	CM-
2	4032	10-juil	14h30 - 14h55	CM+	26	4032	17-juil	14h30 - 14h55	-/-
3	4032	10-juil	15h00 - 15h25	CM-	27	4032	17-juil	15h00 - 15h25	+/+
4	4032	10-juil	15h30h - 15h55	-/-	28	4032	17-juil	15h30h - 15h55	CM+
5	4032	10-juil	16h00 - 16h25	+/+	29	4032	17-juil	16h00 - 16h25	CM-
6	4032	10-juil	16h30 - 17h00	CM+	30	4032	17-juil	16h30 - 17h00	-/-
7	4032	11-juil	13h38 - 14h03	CM-	31	4032	18-juil	14h10 - 14h35	+/+
8	4032	11-juil	14h08 - 14h33	-/-	32	4032	18-juil	14h40 - 15h05	CM+
9	4032	11-juil	14h39 - 15h04	+/+	33	4032	18-juil	15h12 - 15h37	CM-
10	4032	11-juil	15h09 - 15h34	CM+	34	4032	18-juil	15h42 - 16h08	-/-
11	4032	11-juil	15h39 - 16h04	CM-	35	4032	18-juil	16h12 - 16h37	+/+
12	4032	11-juil	16h08 - 16h34	-/-	36	4032	18-juil	16h43 - 17h08	CM+
13	4032	12-juil	14h - 14h25	-/-	37	4032	19-juil	14h - 14h25	CM+
14	4032	12-juil	14h30 - 14h55	CM-	38	4032	19-juil	14h30 - 14h55	+/+
15	4032	12-juil	15h00 - 15h25	CM+	39	4032	19-juil	15h00 - 15h25	-/-
16	4032	12-juil	15h30h - 15h55	+/+	40	4032	19-juil	15h30h - 15h55	CM-
17	4032	12-juil	16h00 - 16h25	-/-	41	4032	19-juil	16h00 - 16h25	CM+
18	4032	12-juil	16h30 - 17h00	CM-	42	4032	19-juil	16h30 - 17h00	+/+
19	4032	13-juil	14h07 - 14h32	CM+	43	4032	20-juil	14h17 - 14h43	-/-
20	4032	13-juil	14h37 - 15h02	+/+	44	4032	20-juil	14h48 - 15h13	CM-
21	4032	13-juil	15h08 - 15h33	-/-	45	4032	20-juil	15h19 - 15h45	CM+
22	4032	13-juil	15h38 - 16h03	CM+	46	4032	20-juil	15h51 - 16h16	+/+
23	4032	13-juil	16h08 - 16h33	CM-	47	4032	20-juil	16h21 - 16h46	-/-
24	4032	13-juil	16h38 - 17h04	+/+	48	4032	20-juil	16h52 - 17h17	CM-

Table 1: Example of experimentation plan for social behavior experimentation.

In order to avoid potential experimental bias, we devised a specific experimentation plan in which each genotype is subjected to testing every hour of the experimentation day, ensuring equal frequency as other genotypes. The 2 investigated lines in this work have followed the exact same plan spread on 8 days (Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday of 2 weeks for the Δ 4032 and Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Friday of 2 weeks for the Δ 338K).

Record device and analysis

Experiments trials were captured using a camera device positioned above the experimental aquarium. For each trail, a fresh video recording was initiated. These video recordings were gathered at the conclusion of an experimental week and subsequently transferred to a computer equipped with video editing software. Videos were then cropped and converted into a compatible file format supported by the analyzer software. Analyses were conducted using the EthoVision XT software (Noldus, Netherlands).



Figure 9: Representation of the tracking area created with the EthoVision XT software in the middle aquarium of the experimentation device.

ELZ: Extreme Left Zone, LZ: Left Zone, TZ: Total Zone, RZ: Right Zone, ERZ: Extreme Right Zone. Blue lines symbolize glasses in the middle aquarium of the experimentation device.

For each video, 5 tracking zones were created: 2 on each side of the aquarium and one for the total zone of the aquarium incorporating each zone (TZ in Figure 9). The extreme zones are included in the bigger zone and have been set to correspond to a contact between the subject and the window contrary to the larger one (ELZ, ERZ, LZ and RZ in Figure 9). These zones have also been set according to the size of observed fish in order to have an extreme zone much bigger than the fish and to avoid tracking bias. The area settings were calibrated according to the settings of each video recording, however size and proportion of the tracking area were kept unchanged for each test. The tracking thresholds were set individually for each video to avoid interferences and to fit with the video settings. The beginning of the tracking period was defined as the instance when the fish initially entered the ELZ. This decision was based on our observation that, upon the removal of separations, some fish tended to remain within the RZ and potentially overlooking the social stimuli present in the other part of the aquarium. Consequently, we decided to analyze the behavior of fish during 5 minutes after the beginning of the tracking.

2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using RStudio Statistical software version 1.4.1106 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Austria).

For thermic stressed experiments, each gene was investigated separately. We used a Student test on data following a normal distribution to investigate the effect of temperature in gene expressions. For other data, we used a Wilcoxon test.

In post-larval phenotyping's experiments, for each observed variable, light phases were treated separately and genotypes were pairwise compared. As the large majority of data were not normally distributed, we used a Wilcoxon test to investigate significant differences between genotype within phases.

For the social behavior analyses, for each variable, genotypes were pairwise compared using a Wilcoxon test as data do not display a normal distribution.

3. Results



3.1 Thermal stress experiment results

Figure 10: Comparative expressions of auts2a, arv1, dpysl5 and plp2 in ovary and egg from thermal stressed medakas.

The expressions of 4 genes have been normalized using a ribosomal gene (18S) and fold expressions are investigated using Δ Cycle Threshold (CT) comparisons (Δ CT=CT_{gene}-CT_{18S}).Values are reported as mean ± standard deviation (SD) and *P < 0.05 indicates significant differences between gene expression.

arv1 and plp2

In contrast to *auts2a* and *dpysl5*, we observed a significant differential expression in *arv1* and *plp2* within both ovaries and eggs from mothers exposed to thermal stress. Both are upregulated in the thermal stressed situation and this result can be observed in the egg and in ovaries analyzed. *auts2 and dpysl5*

Despite the lack of significant differences we can observe a tendency for *auts2a*. The *auts2a* gene seems to be dysregulated in the ovary in opposition to the pattern observed in the egg. The expression of the *auts2a* gene seems to be less important in ovaries from thermally stressed mothers in comparison to ovaries from mother bred at the normal temperature. Contrary to *auts2a* and even if there are no statistical differences, we can note differences in *dpysl5* expressions in eggs as means ± standard deviation (SD) are not overlapping. The

expression of *dysl5* is less important in eggs from thermally stressed mothers than in eggs from mothers bred at the control conditions.



3.2 Post-larval phenotyping results

Figure 11: Response of auts2a KO medaka's offspring post-larvae to light stimuli .

Two lines of auts2a KO medaka were video tracked for 10 minutes in darkness and 10 minutes light in a circular area with an artificial central zone. *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01 indicate significant differences between genotypes. Total distance moved

Firstly, we can note that the genotype does not exert a significant effect on the total distance moved during the experiment in the case of the Δ 338K line. In opposition, a significant difference is noticeable in the total distance moved between CM+ and CM- groups of the Δ 4032 line.

Furthermore, we can also observe that for every genotype within each line, the mean distance traveled is consistently reduced during the light phase as compared to the dark phase. Hence, whatever the genotype and the line, it appears that post-larvae cover greater distance during the dark phase compared to the light phase.

Time spent in the central zone

Contrary to the Δ 4032 line, significant noticeable disparities can be observed in the time spent in the central zone between Δ 338K's genotypes within phases. In the case of the Δ 338K line, significant differences appear during both light phases of the experiment, which contrast with the Δ 4032 line where no statistically significant differences are observed across phases.

For the Δ 338K line, it appears that homozygous mutant fish spend significantly more time in the central zone than wild-types during periods of darkness. Additionally, this outcome remains consistent even during the light phase. Consequently, whatever the light period, homozygous mutant fish demonstrate a consistent tendency to spend more time in the central zone than their wild-types counterparts.

Significant differences between genotypes are more numerous during the light phase. The time spent in the central zone exhibits significant variation between homozygous mutant fish and all other genotypes. As a result, it becomes evident that, during the light phase, homozygous mutant fish spend more time in the central zone of the area than their wild-type counterparts.

Moreover, we can also note that, across all lines and genotypes, the average time spent in the central zone is consistently higher during the light period compared to the dark phase.

Number of entries in the central zone

A similar trend to that seen in the time spent in the central zone appears when we investigate disparities in the number of entries in that same zone. Likewise, statistical differences are observed exclusively within the Δ 338K line and contrasting with the Δ 4032 line.

In the case of the Δ 338K line, homozygous mutants display a higher propensity to enter the central zone of the area compared to wild-type during both dark and light periods. As for the previous results, significant disparities are more numerous during the light phase. In that second phase, we observed that CM+ and CM- are also less likely to enter in the central zone than homozygous mutant fish. Hence, homozygous mutant fish are more likely to enter in the central zone than wild-types whatever the light phase and than all other genotypes during the light phase.

Moreover, as for time spent in the central zone, the average number of entries in the central zone is always higher in the light phase than in darkness for each genotype of each line.



3.3 Social behavior experiment results.

Figure 12: Response of auts2a KO medaka's offspring to social stimuli.

Two lines of auts2a KO medaka were video tracked for 5 minutes in an aquarium with, in the left side, a social stimuli with an aquarium of 6 fish and, in the right part, an empty aquarium. The tracking period was preceded by a 10 min adaptation phase. *P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01 indicate significant differences between genotypes.

Time spent in the right part and extreme right part

Statistically significant differences are absent in the time spent in the right part and in the extreme right part of the aquarium between genotypes. Similarly, significant disparities are not observable in the number of entries into both of the right parts of the aquarium. In both of the observed variables, means ± SD between genotypes are not overlapping and no distinct trend is apparent.

It is noticeable that, among the genotypes observed, there exists a substantial variability in behavior across individuals. This variability is evident across all genotypes within the $\Delta 338$ K line, with an exception of CM-, which similarly holds true for the $\Delta 4032$ line.

In contrast to the Δ 338K case, the homozygous mutant from the Δ 4032 line appears to exhibit the most pronounced variability when compared to all other genotypes. Moreover in the Δ 4032

line the maximum of the two observed variables is always displayed by an homozygous mutant.

4. Discussion

4.1 Thermal stress experiment

Aim and results

Our objective was to explore how thermal stress affects the expression of neurodevelopmental genes in eggs and ovaries of female medaka.

Regarding the outcomes of our experiment, it is apparent in medaka that thermal stress has an influence on the expression of neurodevelopmental genes in the egg and in the ovary. Out of the 4 genes investigated, 3 exhibit dysregulation in eggs: *arv1*, *dpysl5* and *plp2*.

Additionally, in contrast to *dpysl5*, *arv1* and *plp2* demonstrate up-regulation under thermal stress conditions. In ovary, the thermal stress affects the expression of only 2 out of the 4 examined genes: *arv1* and *plp2*. Moreover, there is a discernible trend for *auts2a* as well. We can note that both arv1 and plp2 exhibit up-regulation in ovary as in egg. The genes targeted through RT-qPCR are known as neurodevelopmental genes, associated with neural disorders and linked to cognitive disabilities.

The *auts2* gene, associated with multiple neurological disorders and involved in neurodevelopment has been described previously. The absence of significant differences in *auts2a* within eggs can be attributed to its natural low level of expression in this tissue. Maternal inherited *auts2a* has been identified in medaka's activated eggs, however the expression level at this stage is notably lower compared to after the zygotic genome activation (Merdrignac et al, 2022). Highlighting significant disparities between two expression levels can be challenging when working with limited RNA quantities.

The *dpysl5* gene (dihydropyrimidinase-like 5) belongs to the collapsing response mediator protein (CRMP) family, which plays a role in neurodevelopment. CRMP genes are recognized for their elevated expression in the developing brain and in adult brain areas that preserves neurogenesis. Although their functions in the adult brain remain poorly known, they are recognized for their substantial role in axon guidance signaling and neurite outgrowth. The lack of CRMP can lead to a notable rise in both proliferation and neurogenesis (Veyrac et al, 2011).

Knowledge about the functions of the ARV1 protein are scarce, however a deletion on the gene results in multiple development troubles. It has been shown that mutation on the *ARV1* gene resulted in severe neurodevelopmental delay and intractable onset seizure disorder (Palmer et al, 2016).

The role of the *plp2* gene in fish is still unknown but PLP2 polymorphism has been associated in humans with X-linked mental retardation (Zhang et al, 2007).

All genes that demonstrate dysregulation under thermal stress conditions are linked with neurodevelopmental issues and cognitive disorders. Consequently, we can deduce that maternal thermal stress in medaka affects the expression of maternal factors in both ovaries and eggs, and potentially the phenotype of the offspring. To establish the link between gene regulation and phenotypic plasticity of the offspring, it could be interesting to implement morphological phenotyping or behavior analysis on the offspring. We can also imagine conducting phenotypic analyses on the embryonic mortality rate at various stages. This can allow us to link thermal stress with developmental issues and egg quality for this research fish model.

Comparison with rainbow trout

The aim was also to compare these results with outcomes found on rainbow trout in order to ascertain the generalizability of the conclusion to medaka.

All the results obtained in medaka eggs are consistent with previously observed results in rainbow trout, except for *auts2*. The genes *arv1*, *plp2* and *dpysl5* are dysregulated under thermal stress conditions in eggs in both studies. Furthermore, similar trends are observed for *arv1* and *plp2*, as they are up-regulated, and for *dpysl5*, which is down-regulated in both medaka and trout (Colson et al, 2019).

While these results in medaka align with those found on rainbow trout, a notable discrepancy arises in the auts2 expression in eggs. This difference could potentially be attributed to species-specific biological characteristics. Medaka, hailing from rice paddies, is used to temperatures ranging from 15°C to 28°C, in contrast to rainbow trout, which experiences temperature variations in a lower range.

In summary, it can be affirmed that a maternal thermal stress induces the dysregulation of neurodevelopmental gene expression in both species. This phenomenon in medaka might be correlated with impairment of cognitive responses, as evidenced in rainbow trout, through additional analyses.

Furthermore, these outcomes could potentially correspond with findings observed in diverse animal species. Evidence from studies on birds and fish has demonstrated that a maternal stress before fertilization triggers cognitive impairment in the offspring, compared to the offspring of non-stressed animals (Guibert et al, 2013. Eaton et al, 2015). Similar findings have also been observed in mammals, where maternal stress during pregnancy can elevate the risk for children to suffer emotional issues and development troubles (Zagron & Weinstock, 2006).

Setup issues

The fish used for the experiment underwent an initial 10-days habituation phase followed by a month of sampling period under the consistent temperature conditions (26°C and 32°C). However, subsequent to these initial 10 days and during the sampling phase, we began to note several issues that started to disrupt the smooth progression of the experiment.

Firstly, we observed a significant mortality rate among fish, particularly among the females within the aquariums. It's important to note that this substantial mortality affected fish from both aquariums regardless of the temperature condition. Despite the isolation of the room used for this setup and the water renewable each day, we hypothesized the presence of a bacteria that colonized both tanks, resulting in the loss of several fish, sometimes occurring overnight. These losses have affected our ability to reach the initial target sample of 600 eggs per condition, consequently extending the sampling period beyond our initially intended

timeframe. This might have impacted on the observed results and how we interpret the outcomes.

First, the extended sampling phase implies that all eggs were not collected at the same period of the experiment, then they didn't all originate from mothers exposed to the same duration to the thermal stress.

Secondly, the potential existence of bacteria in the setup introduces a bias into the results of the experiment. Depending on the inter-individual variation, fish can display varying degrees of sensibility to this factor. Although we did not observe a significant difference in the mortality rate between the two aquariums, we can hypothesize that fish subjected to thermal stress could be more sensitive to the stress induced by these bacteria.

Additionally, it's important to note that the unanticipated mortality rate had repercussions on the sampling strategy. Indeed, we were forced to reduce the number of extracted ovaries, which subsequently have an impact on the statistical power of our results.

Moreover, we observed a decline in the egg quality from the thermal stress mother over the sampling period. The majority of these eggs started to exhibit signs of unfertilized eggs and became susceptible to damage after having been collected. Consequently, the egg sampling became harder and good quality eggs became scarce. For these eggs, it was harder to identify and to separate the unfertilized egg from the empty ones.

Lastly, we observed that several females were not spawning. We did not observe significant disparities in this phenomenon between the two aquariums but eggs collected originate from a part of the female used in that experiment. This had an effect on the initially established sample plan. We needed to decrease the number of ovaries collected since our focus was on working with spawning females.

RNA extraction issues

We didn't not manage to extract RNA from every egg sample. After completing all the protocol steps, the RNA cheek that should be present at the bottom of the tube was not observable in each sample. Indeed, for some samples we failed to extract any RNA. This can be linked to the variable quality observed during the sampling period and especially because eggs were pooled by 100 without considering the collection date.

4.2 Post larval phenotyping

Aims

Initially, the goal was to examine the light stimulus response of offspring from *auts2a* mutant medaka, focusing on 2 lines associated with distinct mutations.

The primary objective was to analyze each line separately. In the $\Delta 338$ K line, the aim was to explore the maternal effect of *auts2a* on the offspring behavior and to compare the resulting phenotype with the previously identified one. In the case of the $\Delta 4032$ line, the goal was to investigate offspring behavior and attempt to establish a phenotype linked or not to the effect of maternal contribution of auts2a.

The second objective was to compare the two investigated lines. The goal was to attempt to establish links between the observed outcomes and the mutation localization within the gene for each line.

Results for the ∆338K line

No discernible effects of the genotype and of maternal contribution of *auts2a* on post-larval activity were observed. There are no statistically significant differences in the total distance covered between genotypes across the 2 light phases of the experiment. The total distance traveled appears to remain consistent within genotypes, and particularly during the light phase which exhibits lower inter-genotypic variability.

As developed in the results part, we can observe that the mean total distance moved is consistently lower during the light phase compared to the dark phase for each genotype. Furthermore, as described previously, the total distance traveled is recognized as an indicator of fish activity, a factor known to be correlated with the stress experienced by the subjects. Consequently, we can observe that post-larvae medaka are more likely to be stressed during the dark phase as opposed to the light phase.

In this study, we created an artificial central tracking area to explore thigmotactic behavior by firstly analyzing the time spent within this central zone. As described in the context part, thigmotactic behavior is recognized as linked with stress-inducing situations and is a prevalent behavior in adult medaka.

Firstly, a behavioral switch between the two light phases is evident with the average time spent in the central zone consistently higher during the light phase compared to the dark phase. As a result and linked with previous results, we can observe that medaka post-larvae exhibit thigmotactic behavior linked with stress-inducing situations, notably darkness.

Secondly, statistically significant disparities appear across genotypes in the time spent in the central zone. During the period of darkness, when subjects are less inclined to explore the central region, it becomes noticeable that homozygous mutant fish have a higher tendency to remain in the central area compared to their wild-type counterparts. During the light period, homozygous mutant fish appear to exhibit a lower degree of thigmotactic behavior compared to all other genotypes. As a result, we can observe that an homozygous auts2a mutation in medaka leads to a reduction in anxiety-like behavior, as evidenced by a decreased level of thigmotactic behavior. Moreover, these disparities seem to be amplified in situations without any stress stimuli.

Finally, we investigate the number of entries in the central zone in order to enhance the analysis of thigmotactic behavior and to ascertain whether the time spent in the central zone was connected to exploratory behavior of fish within the total tracking area. Indeed the same trend is observed in the time spent in the central zone and in the number of entries in that zone regarding the significant disparities. Consequently, we observed that mutant homozygous medaka for *auts2a* are more likely to explore the area than their wild-type counterparts.

To conclude, an *auts2a* mutation in medaka triggers a reduction in the anxiety-like behavior and an increase in the exploratory behavior. Moreover, these exploratory tendencies cannot be attributed to higher activity levels, as activity is described as consistent between genotypes during both light phases of this experiment.

Comparison with previous outcomes on the Δ 338K line

As in our work, it has been previously shown that homozygous adult medaka with this $\Delta 338$ K mutation display reduced anxiety-like behavior than wild-types. However, disparities between CM- and all other genotypes with auts2a maternal contribution have been highlighted. Contrary to our work in medaka post-larvae, in the adult medaka, we observe an effect of the absence of *auts2a* maternal contribution. Previous outcomes described the *auts2a* maternal contribution alone responsible for a better recognition of the environment and learning abilities.

We can postulate that the absence of an effect from the maternal contribution of *auts2a* (associated with this Δ 338K mutation) in our study might be attributed to the developmental stage of the analyzed subjects. It is recognized that *aust2* is involved in gene expression regulation and activation and the presence or the absence of its maternal factor within the egg can potentially initiate long-term effects on the progeny.

It is known that the *aust2a* maternal factors are involved in the early nervous system development which is associated with major long-term consequences on the offspring's behavior. In the early stage of development, such as post-larvae, only the distinction between homozygous mutants and wild-types is discernible. As fish continue to develop, the effect of *au2a*'s maternal contribution can appear in offspring behavior.

Results for the ∆4032 line

No statistically significant differences have been noted among all genotypes in each light phase and for each analyzed variable, except for the total distance moved where a distinction is observed between CM+ and CM-. Based on these results, drawing conclusions about the maternal effect of auts2a's maternal contribution is complex, and elaborating meaningful outcomes is difficult.

However, we can observe that across all genotypes, the average total distance moved is always lower during the light period compared to the dark period which aligns with outcomes on the previous line. Consequently, that confirms that post-larvae medaka are more likely to be stressed during the dark phase as opposed to the light phase as their activity levels are higher.

Additionally, we also observe that post-larvae from this line seem to spend more time in the central zone during the light period than in darkness. According to the average number of entries in the central area, post-larvae medaka from this line seems to display thigmotactic behavior which aligns with findings on the previous line. Consequently, that confirms that medaka post-larvae exhibit thigmotactic behavior linked with stress-inducing situations, notably darkness.

Comparison of the Δ 338K line and the Δ 4032 line

As previously observed, the 2 investigated lines exhibit similarities that amplify the significance of the observed disparities. Firstly, thigmotactic

We have seen it previously, the 2 lines investigated display similarities which strengthen the power of the observed disparities. Indeed, thigmotactic behavior coupled with consistent activity was observed in both lines. It is also important to highlight that statistical analyses were also conducted to compare the wild-type individuals between both lines for each phase,

employing the same methods as previously described, and no significant differences were detected. Therefore, all these findings contribute to the robustness of the differences observed between the 2 lines.

As the significant result observed for the $\Delta 4032$ line is complex to interpret, our attention will be directed towards investigating the thigmotactic behavior, which is characterized by the time spent in the central area and the number of entries in that area. In opposition to the $\Delta 4032$ line, in the $\Delta 338$ K line, we can observe an effect of an homozygous mutation of *auts2a* on the post-larvae behavior. Consequently, we can conclude that a deletion of almost 90% of the *auts2a* gene in the N-terminus part in the medaka triggers a reduced anxiety-like behavior at the post-larval stage. Moreover, we can add that a deletion of almost 4,000 bp in the Cterminus part of the gene does not have an effect on the anxiety-like behavior at the postlarval stage.

The deletion associated with the Δ 338K line starts at the exon 2 to extends to exon 7. This deletion notably affects a substantial proportion of the gene, including consequences with identified functions. The proline-rich domain, identified within exon 7 and 8, is directly affected. Additionally, this deletion alters the structure of the full-length protein, which possesses numerous documented functions.

The AUTS2 protein is known as a transcription factor that interacts with transcription regulators. It plays a key role in a complex that regulates the activation or the repression of genes within the central nervous system. Within this complex named PRC1, AUTS2 is linked with the recruitment of 2 other proteins (P300 and CK2) with identified function in the gene expression regulation (Gao et al. 2014). We can hypothesize that a deletion covering 90% of the gene could significatively influence its functions, particularly when it involves the removal of a proline-rich domain linked to mRNA-binding function. Moreover, another study has highlighted the importance of the HX motif in this recruitment process which can be impacted by a structure modification linked with the Δ 338K deletion (Liu et al, 2021).

Several studies have exposed the disparities between the 2 main isoforms of the AUTS2 protein (FL-AUTS2 and var2-AUTS2, Figure 2). It has been suggested that the N-terminus part of the protein might be responsible for transcription repression while the C-terminus part can be responsible for the expression activation. It has also been shown that, during neural differentiation, there is a shift in isoform expression with a FL-AUTS2 isoform expressed in undifferentiated cells and subsequently being supplanted by a shorter isoform during the differentiation process. Moreover, evidence has emerged indicating that the only presence of the short isoform leads to an early neural differentiation and that the absence of the full-length isoform might explain the observed phenotype linked with an accelerated neural differentiation (Monderer-Rothkoff et al, 2019).

Finally, it has been shown that with a mutation involving the proline rich domain affected by our Δ 338K deletion, we observe a significantly lower proportion of lamellipodium. As a result, it means that AUTS2 is involved in the neuronal migration with the PR2 domain localized on the exon 7 and 8 of the gene (Figure 2) (Kei Hori et al. 2014).

Role of the N-terminus part of the gene is described through the identified function of the fulllenght AUTS2 protein. Variations in behavior within the 338K line was expected as it is associated with a large deletion of the gene. Moreover, the key role of the delated part has previously been detailed and the effect of that mutation on the medaka behavior has already been highlighted. On the other hand, the deletion of the $\Delta 4032$ line affects the auts2 domain of the protein which is a poorly documented domain which seems to have no effect on the post-larvae behavior.

Setup issues

One of the main issues encountered during the experiment's protocol was the process of selecting larvae for the tracking experiment from the petri dish to the plate. To ensure an adequate number of larvae for the test, we intentionally bred more larvae than required, necessitating a subsequent selection process. The selection was carried out during the plate loading using a highly randomized approach in order to avoid any experimental bias.

Additionally, the effects of the mutation have introduced disruptions in the seamless progression of the experiment. Firstly, there were variations in densities within the aquariums linked with differences in survival rates among genotypes within each line. Despite our efforts to maintain similar densities, this factor may have influenced the observed results. Secondly, the developmental delay described in previous study in larvae with the Δ 338K mutation has introduced a variation in size among genotypes, potentially influencing the results, particularly in terms of the total distance moved.

Finally, we chose to implement a 20-minute habituation phase in darkness based on previous published findings. However, upon examining our results, it becomes apparent that the dark period acted as a stress-inducing situation for the fish. Optimal condition to establish a basal activity in our subject might be to conduct the habituation phase under light exposure.

4.3 Social behavior experiment

Aims and results

The main objective of the experiment was to explore the social behavior of offspring from auts2a mutant medaka, focusing on 2 lines linked to different mutations. Initially, the aim was to assess the effect of the maternal contribution of auts2a on the social behavior of the offspring within both lines. Subsequently, the objective was to examine the impact of the auts2 mutation's location on the response to social stimuli.

No notable significant differences were observed between genotypes within each line. The presence of intra-individual variability introduces challenges in the results interpretation. However, we note a trend within the Δ 4032 line, where homozygous mutant fish appear to spend more time in the right part of the aquarium. While definite conclusions cannot be drawn, it is plausible to hypothesize that homozygous mutant medaka with the Δ 4032 mutation might exhibit reduced attraction to social stimuli compared to the other analyzed genotypes. Validating this hypothesis should involve conducting additional social tests and increasing the number of subjects. Moreover, the lack of significant disparities exposed in our results contrasts with findings on other species. As described previously, it has been shown that Auts2 KO mice can exhibit social deficits.

Experimental issues

First, the experiment is time-consuming due to the substantial time required for setting up each test and conducting the test itself. This time constraint triggers challenges to increase the number of analyzed subjects. Moreover, the video processing phase is also quite time-consuming, particularly when configuring the tracking area between each test due to minor variations in the videos.

Secondly, as previously outlined, our decision was to initiate the tracking phase immediately after the habituation phase, coinciding with the fish's initial entry into the ELZ. However, we have encountered tests where certain fish consistently remain in the right section of the aquarium, rendering them unanalyzable. Additionally, we have identified reflections on both sides of the aquarium (ERZ and ELZ) that might have influenced fish behavior, potentially creating a social stimulus in the right area of the aquarium through their own reflection.

Lastly, it's important to note that this experimental setup induced stress in the fish. The new environment combined with isolation during the habituation phase could have influenced the observed outcomes. Furthermore, upon removing the separation, we observed flight behavior followed by freezing sequences in some fish. These stress-induced behavior might introduce a bias in our results.

Conclusion

My internship at the INRAE FPGL had multiple objectives and was a component of a larger research project.

The primary goal was to explore how the absence of *auts2a* maternal contribution, linked to distinct mutations, impacts medaka behavior. To that end, we examined post-larvae responses to light stimuli and adult reactions to social stimuli. In opposition to previous findings on the Δ 338K deletion, we couldn't confirm that the lack of maternal *auts2* contribution leads to reduced anxiety-like behavior. We didn't observe any maternal effect of *auts2* for both mutation and for both experiments. This may be explained by the stage disparities between analyzed fish in the post-larval phenotyping compared to the fish used in previous experiments or by the lack of appropriateness or quality of our social experiment.

The second objective was to investigate behavioral phenotypes of these two medaka lines in order to conduct a functional analysis of the AUTS2 protein according to the deletion localization. Notably, we managed to demonstrate that homozygous mutants in the Δ 338K line displayed lower anxiety-like behavior than wild-type, contrary to the Δ 4032 line. Considering AUTS2 structure findings previously described, we can hypothesize that the auts2a Δ 338K deletion affects protein function, impacting the post-larval phenotypic plasticity compared to the Δ 4032 deletion which seems to have no effect on the post-larval behavior.

Lastly, we aimed to assess the effect of a thermal stress on the neurodevelopmental gene expression as previously done in rainbow trout. We managed to demonstrate that thermal stress triggers impairment of gene expression in medaka's egg and ovaries and especially for genes involved in the development of the neural system.

As a global conclusion, the overarching goal of the AUTS2 project is to understand the role of *auts2a* in medaka's neurodevelopment and behavior, with a specific focus on the effects of its maternal contribution. This subject has broader implications, including the exploration of

intergenerational stress effects, an increasingly pertinent concern for sectors like aquaculture, particularly with the current context of global warming.

Bibliography

- Aanes, Håvard, Cecilia L. Winata, Chi Ho Lin, Jieqi P. Chen, Kandhadayar G.
 Srinivasan, Serene G. P. Lee, Adrian Y. M. Lim, et al. « Zebrafish MRNA
 Sequencing Deciphers Novelties in Transcriptome Dynamics during Maternal to
 Zygotic Transition ». *Genome Research* 21, nº 8 (août 2011): 1328-38.
 https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.116012.110.
- Beunders, Gea, Els Voorhoeve, Christelle Golzio, Luba M. Pardo, Jill A. Rosenfeld,
 Michael E. Talkowski, Ingrid Simonic, et al. « Exonic Deletions in AUTS2 Cause a
 Syndromic Form of Intellectual Disability and Suggest a Critical Role for the C
 Terminus ». *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 92, nº 2 (7 février 2013):
 210-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.12.011.
- Biel, Alecia, Anthony S. Castanza, Ryan Rutherford, Summer R. Fair, Lincoln Chifamba, Jason C. Wester, Mark E. Hester, et Robert F. Hevner. « AUTS2 Syndrome: Molecular Mechanisms and Model Systems ». *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 15 (2022). <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnmol.2022.858582</u>.
- Castanza, Anthony S., Sanja Ramirez, Prem P. Tripathi, Ray A. M. Daza, Franck K. Kalume, Jan-Marino Ramirez, et Robert F. Hevner. « AUTS2 Regulates RNA Metabolism and Dentate Gyrus Development in Mice ». *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y.: 1991)* 31, nº 10 (26 août 2021): 4808-24.

https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhab124.

- Chiffre, Axelle, Christelle Clérandeau, Charline Dwoinikoff, Florane Le Bihanic, Hélène Budzinski, Florence Geret, et Jérôme Cachot. « Psychotropic Drugs in Mixture Alter Swimming Behaviour of Japanese Medaka (Oryzias Latipes) Larvae above Environmental Concentrations ». *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International* 23, nº 6 (mars 2016): 4964-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3477-4</u>.
- Clément, Antoine Emile. « Impact de la contribution maternelle du gène auts2a sur le neurodéveloppement et le comportement de la descendance chez le médaka (Oryzias latipes) », s. d.
- Colson, Violaine, Morgane Cousture, Danielle Damasceno, Claudiane Valotaire, Thaovi Nguyen, Aurélie Le Cam, et Julien Bobe. « Maternal Temperature Exposure Impairs Emotional and Cognitive Responses and Triggers Dysregulation of Neurodevelopment Genes in Fish ». *PeerJ* 7 (2019): e6338. <u>https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.6338</u>.

- Eaton, L., E. J. Edmonds, T. B. Henry, D. L. Snellgrove, et K. A. Sloman. « Mild maternal stress disrupts associative learning and increases aggression in offspring ». *Hormones and Behavior* 71 (1 mai 2015): 10-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.03.005</u>.
- Gao, Zhonghua, Pedro Lee, James M. Stafford, Melanie von Schimmelmann, Anne Schaefer, et Danny Reinberg. « An AUTS2-Polycomb Complex Activates Gene Expression in the CNS ». *Nature* 516, nº 7531 (18 décembre 2014): 349-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13921</u>.
- Gao, Zhonghua, Jin Zhang, Roberto Bonasio, Francesco Strino, Ayana Sawai, Fabio Parisi, Yuval Kluger, et Danny Reinberg. « PCGF Homologs, CBX Proteins, and RYBP Define Functionally Distinct PRC1 Family Complexes ». *Molecular Cell* 45, n° 3 (10 février 2012): 344-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.01.002</u>.
- Guibert, Floriane, Sophie Lumineau, Kurt Kotrschal, Erich Möstl, Marie-Annick Richard-Yris, et Cécilia Houdelier. « Trans-Generational Effects of Prenatal Stress in Quail ». *Proceedings. Biological Sciences* 280, nº 1753 (22 février 2013): 20122368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.2368</u>.
- Harvey, Steven A., Ian Sealy, Ross Kettleborough, Fruzsina Fenyes, Richard White, Derek Stemple, et James C. Smith. « Identification of the Zebrafish Maternal and Paternal Transcriptomes ». *Development (Cambridge, England)* 140, nº 13 (juillet 2013): 2703-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.095091</u>.
- Hentze, Matthias W., Alfredo Castello, Thomas Schwarzl, et Thomas Preiss. « A Brave New World of RNA-Binding Proteins ». *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology* 19, nº 5 (mai 2018): 327-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.130</u>.
- Hori, Kei, et Mikio Hoshino. « Neuronal Migration and AUTS2 Syndrome ». *Brain Sciences* 7, n°5 (14 mai 2017): 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci7050054</u>.
- Hori, Kei, Kunihiko Yamashiro, Taku Nagai, Wei Shan, Saki F. Egusa, Kazumi Shimaoka, Hiroshi Kuniishi, et al. « AUTS2 Regulation of Synapses for Proper Synaptic Inputs and Social Communication ». *IScience* 23, nº 6 (juin 2020): 101183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.101183</u>.
- Koger, C. S., S. J. Teh, et D. E. Hinton. « Variations of Light and Temperature Regimes and Resulting Effects on Reproductive Parameters in Medaka (Oryzias Latipes) ». *Biology of Reproduction* 61, nº 5 (novembre 1999): 1287-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod61.5.1287</u>.
- Kondrychyn, Igor, Lena Robra, et Vatsala Thirumalai. « Transcriptional Complexity and Distinct Expression Patterns of Auts2 Paralogs in Danio Rerio ». *G3 (Bethesda, Md.)* 7, nº 8 (7 août 2017): 2577-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.117.042622</u>.

- Le Bihanic, Florane, Christelle Clérandeau, Karyn Menach, Bénédicte Morin, Helene Budzinski, Xavier Cousin, et Jérôme Cachot. « Developmental toxicity of PAH mixtures in fish early life stages. Part II: adverse effects in Japanese medaka ». *Environmental science and pollution research international* 21 (6 mars 2014). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2676-3</u>.
- Lee, Miler T., Ashley R. Bonneau, Carter M. Takacs, Ariel A. Bazzini, Kate R. DiVito, Elizabeth S. Fleming, et Antonio J. Giraldez. « Nanog, Pou5f1 and SoxB1 Activate Zygotic Gene Expression during the Maternal-to-Zygotic Transition ». *Nature* 503, n° 7476 (11 novembre 2013): 360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12632</u>.
- Lucon-Xiccato, Tyrone, Felix Loosli, Francesca Conti, Nicholas S. Foulkes, et Cristiano Bertolucci. « Comparison of anxiety-like and social behaviour in medaka and zebrafish ». *Scientific Reports* 12 (28 juin 2022): 10926. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14978-1.
- Matsuda, Masaru, Yoshitaka Nagahama, Ai Shinomiya, Tadashi Sato, Chika Matsuda, Tohru Kobayashi, Craig E. Morrey, et al. « DMY Is a Y-Specific DM-Domain Gene Required for Male Development in the Medaka Fish ». *Nature* 417, nº 6888 (30 mai 2002): 559-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature751</u>.
- Maximino, Caio, Thiago Marques de Brito, Claudio Alberto Gellis de Mattos Dias, Amauri Gouveia, et Silvio Morato. « Scototaxis as Anxiety-like Behavior in Fish ». *Nature Protocols* 5, nº 2 (février 2010): 209-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.225</u>.
- Oksenberg, Nir, Laurie Stevison, Jeffrey D. Wall, et Nadav Ahituv. « Function and Regulation of AUTS2, a Gene Implicated in Autism and Human Evolution ». *PLoS Genetics* 9, nº1 (2013): e1003221. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003221.
- Palmer, Elizabeth, Kelsey Jarrett, Rani Sachdev, Fatema Zahrani, Mais Hashem, Niema Ibrahim, Hugo Sampaio, et al. « Neuronal deficiency of ARV1 causes an autosomal recessive epileptic encephalopathy ». *Human Molecular Genetics* 25 (6 juin 2016): ddw157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw157</u>.
- Polverino, Giovanni, Tommaso Ruberto, Georg Staaks, et Thomas Mehner. « Tank size alters mean behaviours and individual rank orders in personality traits of fish depending on their life stage ». *Animal Behaviour* 115 (1 mai 2016): 127-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.03.013.
- Rozen, S., et H. Skaletsky. « Primer3 on the WWW for General Users and for Biologist Programmers ». *Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.)* 132 (2000): 365-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1385/1-59259-192-2:365</u>.

Sultana, Razia, Chang-En Yu, Jun Yu, Jeffery Munson, Donghui Chen, Wenhui Hua,

Annette Estes, et al. « Identification of a Novel Gene on Chromosome 7q11.2 Interrupted by a Translocation Breakpoint in a Pair of Autistic Twins ». *Genomics* 80, n°2 (août 2002): 129-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.2002.6810</u>.

- Vastenhouw, Nadine L., Wen Xi Cao, et Howard D. Lipshitz. « The Maternal-to-Zygotic Transition Revisited ». *Development (Cambridge, England)* 146, nº 11 (12 juin 2019): dev161471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.161471</u>.
- Veyrac, Alexandra, Sophie Reibel, Joëlle Sacquet, Mireille Mutin, Jean-Philippe Camdessanche, Pappachan Kolattukudy, Jérôme Honnorat, et François Jourdan. « CRMP5 Regulates Generation and Survival of Newborn Neurons in Olfactory and Hippocampal Neurogenic Areas of the Adult Mouse Brain ». *PloS One* 6, nº 10 (2011): e23721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023721</u>.
- Wang, Mu-Yun, et Hideaki Takeuchi. « Individual recognition and the 'face inversion effect' in medaka fish (Oryzias latipes) ». *eLife* 6 (s. d.): e24728. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.24728</u>.
- Zagron, Gal, et Marta Weinstock. « Maternal Adrenal Hormone Secretion Mediates Behavioural Alterations Induced by Prenatal Stress in Male and Female Rats ». *Behavioural Brain Research* 175, nº 2 (décembre 2006): 323-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2006.09.003</u>.
- Zhang, Lilei, Chunfa Jie, Cassandra Obie, Fatima Abidi, Charles E. Schwartz, Roger E. Stevenson, David Valle, et Tao Wang. « X Chromosome CDNA Microarray Screening Identifies a Functional PLP2 Promoter Polymorphism Enriched in Patients with X-Linked Mental Retardation ». *Genome Research* 17, nº 5 (5 janvier 2007): 641-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.5336307</u>.